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MEMORANDUM 

To:  Governor John Kasich 
 
From:  Mark Godsey, Professor of Law, University of Cincinnati and Director of the 

Ohio Innocence Project  
  
 Sharon Katz, James W.B. Benkard, William D. Pollak, Samir Kaushal, Justin 

Sommers, Davis Polk & Wardwell LLP 
 
CC: Dennis Will, Lorain County Prosecutor 
 
Re: Nancy Smith 
 
Date: April 6, 2012 
_____________________________________________________________________________ 
 

We write respectfully to urge the grant of a pardon, or alternatively a commutation of 

sentence, to Nancy Smith, a woman who is currently living a productive life in her community 

after having served almost fifteen years in prison for a crime that she did not commit.  Despite 

her acquittal by the judge who recently reviewed her case and the support of numerous observers 

who believe in her innocence, Ms. Smith faces the prospect of an imminent return to prison to 

serve significantly more time if a pardon or commutation is not granted.   

In 1994, Nancy Smith, a lifelong resident of Lorain, Ohio, a single mother of four, and a 

dutiful daughter who resided with her children and elderly parents, began serving a 30 to 94 year 

prison sentence as a result of convictions of sexual abuse arising out of her job as a Head Start 

School bus driver.   

After Nancy Smith served nearly 15 years in prison, in June 2009, following some 

unusual procedural developments, Judge James Burge of the Lorain County Common Pleas 

Court reviewed the evidentiary record in Nancy Smith’s case and entered a judgment acquitting 
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her of all charges, declaring that he had “absolutely no confidence that [the original] verdict [] 

[was] correct,” because “no competent, credible evidence” was presented to support Ms. Smith’s 

conviction.1  Ms. Smith was duly released and returned to her family.  Since being acquitted of 

these charges, Ms. Smith has quietly worked to rebuild her life by getting a job, volunteering in 

her community and reconnecting with her family and friends.  

On January 27, 2011, the Supreme Court of Ohio held that Judge Burge lacked the 

jurisdiction to enter a judgment of acquittal for Ms. Smith.  State ex rel DeWine v. Burge, No. 

2010-1216, 2011 WL 251883, at *4–5 (Ohio Jan. 27, 2011).  The Supreme Court’s decision 

focused purely on the jurisdictional propriety of Judge Burge’s actions and did not address his 

analysis regarding Ms. Smith’s innocence.  (Id.)  As a result, Ms. Smith now faces the 

extraordinary prospect of being torn away from her family again and returned to prison after 

having successfully rebuilt her shattered life.  She faces this prospect even though no court has 

taken issue with Judge Burge’s conclusion that she is innocent of any crime; many persons have 

significant concerns that the alleged victims’ testimony was contaminated; when examined in 

light of developments in investigative techniques, the original verdict appears deeply tainted by 

the contaminated testimony; and there is absolutely no societal benefit to be gained in 

reincarcerating Ms. Smith for another 15 to 79 years. 

In 1993, the legal and medical professions had only just begun to understand the proper 

methods for investigating child abuse cases and, in particular, questioning young, impressionable 

children, and many investigative bodies had not yet developed methodologies or procedures for 
                                                 

1 Transcript of Hearing (“Hearing Tr.”), dated June 24, 2009, at A8–9; Merit Brief of Respondent—
Appellee Judge James M. Burge at A14. 
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these crimes.  Since then, developments in child psychology have demonstrated that the kinds of 

publicity generated, the discussions that occurred among adults in the presence of children, and 

the leading and suggestive questioning utilized in the Nancy Smith investigation and trial almost 

undoubtedly shaped and tainted the children’s memories of events.  See, e.g., State v. Wright, 

775 P.2d 1224, 1228 (Idaho 1989) (recognizing that interview techniques can “lead[] a child to 

imagine an event [and then] the child’s memory of that imagined event will be indistinguishable 

from memories of events which the child actually experienced.”), aff’d, 497 U.S. 805 (1990).  

Once a child’s memory has been tainted, the damage is irreversible and the false “memory is, 

from then on, as real to the child as any other.”  Id.  Taking these advancements in child 

psychology into account, there is a serious question, were Nancy Smith tried today, whether the 

primary evidence presented against her—the testimony of the alleged victims—would even be 

admissible.  Indeed, Judge Burge, the only jurist to consider the issue, concluded that this 

testimony was so unreliable it would be inadmissible under today’s legal norms.  Hearing Tr. at 

A6 (“[T]his Court . . . would find the interview process so suggestive that the children’s in-court 

testimony would be inadmissible.”). 

Moreover, exculpatory evidence was not presented at Ms. Smith’s trial including (1) the 

Head Start attendance records showing that the alleged abuse could not have occurred because 

all the alleged victims were present in school on May 7, 1993—the day the abuse supposedly 

occurred (A93–A99); (2) affidavits from all of Ms. Smith’s bus aides, including the bus aide 

present on May 7, 1993, stating that Ms. Smith dropped the children off at school on May 7, 

1993, as well as on all other days (A20–26, A33–34, A39–41); (3) records showing that Ms. 

Smith worked two other jobs the afternoon of May 7, 1993, when the abuse allegedly occurred 
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(see, e.g., A27–29); and (4) a videotape of a live lineup in which the children were repeatedly 

unable to identify Joseph Allen, the man who Nancy Smith was charged with aiding and abetting  

(See Enclosed DVD marked as Exhibit A to Nancy Smith’s Application for Executive Clemency 

(“Lineup Video”)).  Further compounding trial counsel’s failure to introduce any of this 

evidence, Nancy Smith’s appellate counsel failed on appeal to raise an ineffective assistance of 

counsel claim addressing the failure to introduce most of this exculpatory evidence and also 

missed the deadline for filing a federal habeas corpus petition on her behalf. 

Based on the advancements in child psychology discrediting the techniques used for 

investigating and questioning the alleged victims, Nancy Smith’s trial and appellate counsel’s 

ineffectiveness, the amount of time that Ms. Smith has served while steadfastly maintaining her 

innocence, and Ms. Smith’s exemplary behavior both while incarcerated and since her release on 

February 4, 2009, the Lorain community overwhelmingly supports Ms. Smith’s application for a 

pardon, or alternatively, a commutation of her sentence.  Attached to this petition are numerous 

letters and affidavits urging you to take action that will ensure that Ms. Smith will not return to 

prison, including Judge Joseph C. Zieba, a retired Lorain County Common Pleas Judge (A224–

25) 2; Thomas Cantu, the original lead Detective on this case (A16–19); Anne Molnar, a Lorain 

City Council member (A181–82); and Deacon Louis Maldonado of the Mary Mother of God 

Parish (A183–84).   

Nancy Smith’s case is precisely the type of case for which a pardon or, alternatively, a 

commutation of sentence is designed.  During Ms. Smith’s fifteen years in prison, she compiled 
                                                 

2 Judge Zieba wrote a letter in support of Nancy Smith’s January 2007 parole application but, 
unfortunately, passed away before he had the chance to write a letter in support of clemency.  (A224-25.)  
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an impressive record of accomplishments and, since Judge Burge’s action, she has lived a law-

abiding, productive life as a member of the Lorain community.  She has obtained employment, 

volunteered through her church assisting the less fortunate members of society, and provided 

untold assistance to the members of her family with whom she has been given the opportunity to 

reunite.  She became her uncle’s primary caregiver prior to his recent death and helped her 

youngest son, who had been forced to grow up without her, to overcome his drug addiction and 

resurrect his life.  Since being accused, Ms. Smith has never wavered from asserting her 

innocence, even though maintaining her innocence appears to have severely jeopardized her 

ability to receive parole. 

Parts I and II of this memorandum address Ms. Smith’s exemplary behavior in prison and 

her successful reintegration into society following the judgment of acquittal entered by Judge 

Burge.  Part III outlines the background of this case with a focus on the aspects of the 

investigation that have subsequently been identified as the basis for concluding that the 

testimony of the children was tainted and unreliable.  Part IV addresses the presentation of the 

tainted testimony at trial, the failure to present to the jury evidence or explanations for the 

contamination, and the failure to present other exculpatory evidence.  

I. Ms. Smith’s Exemplary Record Over Her Nearly Fifteen Years in Prison  

Nancy Smith has already served almost fifteen years in prison.  During her incarceration, 

Ms. Smith watched her four children grow up in foster homes without her guidance or love.  She 

missed the deaths of her father and her aunt, graduations, numerous weddings, and the births of 

her eight grandchildren.  Her daughter, Courtney, currently expects a child in June, and Ms. 

Smith desperately hopes that this will be the first grandchild that she can personally welcome 
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into this world.  None of the goals of incarceration—retribution, deterrence, or rehabilitation—

will be furthered by reincarcerating a 54-year-old woman who has already served almost fifteen 

years in prison.   

While in prison, Nancy Smith bettered herself in every way possible.  She worked hard to 

develop a variety of skills and completed numerous courses on topics such as domestic violence, 

current events, parenting, moral reasoning and development, culinary arts, finance management, 

and horticulture.  (Certificates of Achievements and Awards at A156–73.)  Ultimately, Ms. 

Smith’s study of horticulture developed into a passion, and she successfully completed an 

apprenticeship in horticulture and became a horticulture instructor—teaching other students and 

managing the prison greenhouse.  (A168.)  In this role, she helped lead community service 

projects, including providing floral arrangements to local churches and the Governor’s mansion.3  

Ms. Smith also honed her skills as a painter by participating in the Art Guild.  Among other 

projects, she painted a large mural in the Prison Guard station and provided free paintings to the 

local high school and a bible camp near the prison as community service.  Finally, she graduated 

with honors and a degree in Culinary Arts from Columbus State College and was selected to the 

dean’s list for almost every quarter.  (A173–76.) 

During her ordeal, Nancy Smith has sustained her faith in God and for fourteen years 

served as the personal assistant to prison chaplains Father David and, then later, Father Bentz.4  

                                                 
3 See, e.g., Institutional Summary Report at A179 (indicating that in 2005 and 2006, for example, Nancy 

Smith completed 972 hours of community service); Certificates of Achievements at A163-67, A169. 

4 Father Bentz submitted a letter in support of Nancy Smith’s application for parole in January 2007 in 
which he states that “I am totally convinced [that] Nancy Smith . . . was wrongfully convicted.”  (A226.)  Father 

(continued) . . .  
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As an assistant to the Chaplain, she helped other inmates reconnect with God, prepared services, 

and planned retreats and events.  She was honored with membership in the “Ladies of the Lord” 

and as an “Angel in Kairos,” and the prison allowed her to participate in a church retreat.  

(A183.)   During her incarceration, Ms. Smith maintained a nearly perfect disciplinary record, 

incurring only four minor conduct reports for possession of extra envelopes, possession of 

sweatpants, improper positioning of her television, and failing to sign in, all at the beginning of 

her incarceration.  (A178.) 

Finally, Ms. Smith has continued to work to prove her innocence.  Indeed, Ms. Smith was 

never granted parole in large part, she believes, because she maintains that she did not commit 

these crimes—assuming they even occurred. 

II. Ms. Smith’s Successful Reintegration into Society 

There is no dispute that Nancy Smith will be a law-abiding and productive member of 

society; she has been an upstanding member of the Lorain community for her entire life.  At the 

age of sixteen, she got her first job in Marge’s flower shop and since then she has held jobs at 

Hot Waters Marina, Burger King, Flowers by Joe, the YMCA, Lorain Community Action 

Agency, and Kaufman’s Data Center.  All of her past employers describe her as the ideal 

employee—hard working, considerate, and committed to her work.  (See, e.g., A218.)  Indeed, 

while raising four children, Ms. Smith managed to hold down three jobs at once to provide her 

                                                                                                                                                             
Bentz offered to write a letter in support of Nancy Smith’s clemency application but, unfortunately, passed away 
before he had the chance.  
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children with a better life.  While working those jobs and raising her children5 as a single mother, 

Ms. Smith also found time to take night classes to complete her high school education and earn a 

GED.  In addition to caring for her own family, Ms. Smith has consistently volunteered to help 

her community.  Since 1988, she has volunteered at her church, giving something back to the 

less fortunate in the Lorain community.  With the exception of the instant offense, Ms. Smith has 

never been arrested or charged with a single crime, and since her release, she has not broken any 

laws or incurred so much as a speeding ticket. 

Since being released, Nancy Smith has worked hard to reconstruct her life.  She has 

obtained employment as a painter and housecleaner, reunited with her four children and eight 

grandchildren, and resumed her role as a loving and supportive mother.  For example, thanks to 

Ms. Smith’s support and guidance, her son, Chase, has managed to overcome his drug 

addiction,6 obtain a job as a construction worker, and reconnect with and support his own 

children.  (A187.)  By all accounts, he has turned his life around due largely to help from his 

mother.  Ms. Smith has also savored the opportunity to assume a large role in the lives of her 

grandchildren: she picks them up from school, babysits, assists them with homework, and attends 

their extracurricular activities.  (A187–93, A198, A204–05.)  Finally, since the death of her aunt, 

Ms. Smith acted as the primary caretaker for her uncle, Victor Rivera, who recently passed away 

from debilitating kidney failure. 
                                                 

5 Prior to Nancy Smith’s incarceration, her children did well in school and excelled in sports, including one 
child who became a National Roller-Skating Champion.  Her children were well-adjusted and law-abiding members 
of society.   

6 Chase was raised in multiple homes from the age of twelve and, as a very young child, struggled to deal 
with the loss of his mother.  He ultimately turned to drugs to deal with his grief but, since Ms. Smith’s release, has 
turned his life around.  (A187.)  
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In addition, Nancy Smith continues to volunteer through her church and assist the less 

fortunate.  Forsaking material gain, Ms. Smith has donated many of her paintings and auctioned 

several of them to fund medical treatment for another friend dying of kidney disease.  She also 

serves food to the homeless and helped organize a local festival through her church.  Reverend 

Maldonado describes her as a good parent and citizen who is very involved in her church and in 

the attached letter also urges you to grant Ms. Smith a pardon.  (A183–84.) 

Finally, substantial community support exists for this application.  Numerous letters have 

been submitted in support of Ms. Smith’s application, including letters from a police officer 

involved in the investigation, retired Lorain county Judge Joseph C. Zieba, a former reporter  

assigned to the case from the Elyria Chronicle-Telegram, a Lorain councilwoman, and numerous 

lawyers, clergy, and members of the Lorain community.  (A181–226.)   

III. The Allegations Against Nancy Smith7 

 In understanding how Nancy Smith came to be petitioning for this relief, it is important, 

we believe, to understand the very serious taint on the evidence that was presented against her.  

The 1993 investigation into Nancy Smith’s alleged sexual abuse of several children who rode the 

Head Start bus that she drove can only be understood within the context of what one newspaper 

has described as the “fury that swept the country from 1980 to 1992, [in which] there were at 

least 311 alleged child sex rings investigated in 46 states.”8  Of the more than thirty child sexual 

                                                 
7 The facts discussed herein are largely taken directly from publicly available police reports, interview 

audio tapes, deposition transcripts, and trial transcripts.  We have not attached any of these publicly available 
documents to this petition but documentary support can be provided upon request.   

8 Andrew Schneider & Mike Barber, Lives Ruined Because Lessons Ignored, SEATTLE POST-
INTELLIGENCER, Feb. 27, 1998, at A1. 
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abuse cases that went to trial in the 1980s, more than half of the convictions have been reversed 

on appeal because of concerns that the testimonies of the child witnesses were contaminated.9  

As these courts have recognized, in the 1980s and 1990s, there was only a rudimentary 

understanding of the impact that suggestive questioning could have on the memories of 

children.10 

 On May 7, 1993, Nancy Smith was publicly accused by Margaret Grondin—whose 

daughter, Nikki Zelek, rode Ms. Smith’s Head Start school bus—of taking Nikki to the house of 

an unknown man named “Joseph,” where Nikki, according to Ms. Grondin, was sexually 

assaulted.  The officers who interviewed Nikki on May 7, 1993, noted that “[m]uch of the 

information [was] provided [not by the child, but] by Nikki’s mother,” and the doctor who 

examined Nikki stated that she did not “show any signs of injuries to her body.” 

During interviews of Nikki Zelek on May 8, 11, and 13, 1993, she repeatedly denied 

having been abused.  However, she was contradicted by her mother, who made detailed, 

extensive accusations against Nancy Smith and “Joseph,” frequently answering questions 

directed at Nikki.  When Nikki spoke, she “had to be coaxed by her mother” and often provided 

                                                 
9 Dana D. Anderson, Assessing the Reliability of Child Testimony in Sexual Abuse Cases, 69 S. CAL. L. 

REV. 2117, 2117 n.1 (1996) (citing Ed Hayward & Tom Mashberg, Upheaval in 80s Put the Spotlight on Child 
Abuse, BOSTON HERALD, Dec. 3, 1995, at A1). 

10 See generally Idaho v. Wright, 497 U.S. 805, 819 (1990) (recognizing that certain safeguards, including 
the avoidance of leading questions, “may well enhance the reliability of out-of-court statements of children 
regarding sexual abuse”); Maryland v. Craig, 497 U.S. 836, 868 (1990) (Scalia, J., dissenting) (“[S]tudies show that 
children are substantially more vulnerable to suggestion than adults, and often unable to separate recollected fantasy 
(or suggestion) from reality.”); Washington v. Schriver, 255 F.3d 45, 57 (2d Cir. 2001) (noting that “[a]n emerging 
consensus in the case law relies upon scientific studies to conclude that suggestibility and improper interviewing 
techniques are serious issues with child witnesses”); State v. Michaels, 642 A.2d 1372, 1379 (N.J. 1994).   
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incoherent or illogical responses.11  Based on these interviews, the police concluded that “Nikki 

Zelek may have been a victim of sexual abuse in the past, but not as indicated in the complaints 

by her mother on the Head Start school bus, at the school, or at any alleged suspects’ home.”   

On May 25, the police interviewed the 11 other children who rode Ms. Smith’s bus.  All 

of those children—including Antuan Powell and Amanda Weinbrenner, two of the children who 

would ultimately testify at trial as alleged victims—denied that any abuse occurred and denied 

knowing anyone named “Joseph.”  That evening, Ms. Grondin visited the parents of Antuan and 

Amanda and informed them that their children had been sexually abused by Ms. Smith and an 

unidentified man named “Joseph” on May 7, 1993, and on several other unknown dates.  During 

those visits, Ms. Grondin also directly questioned Amanda and, in doing so, directly 

disseminated details about her own claims against Ms. Smith.12   

In interviews with the police, Antuan’s and Amanda’s parents repeated in front of their 

children the details of the alleged abuse as provided to them by Margaret Grondin.  After initially 

denying having been abused, during his second police interview, Antuan agreed that he had been 

abused.  But when pressed by Detective Cantu, Antuan admitted that he was simply repeating 

what he had been told to say and that he “d[id]n’t know what happened.”  The police concluded 

that “[a]ll of the victims . . . [were] interviewed with much inconsistency and lack of good 

evidence.” 

                                                 
11 Expert Report of Dr. Kathleen Quinn, Forensic Child Psychiatrist (“Expert Report”) at A54.  See id. at 

A53–57, A64.  Nikki also originally claimed that, instead of participating in the molestation, Nancy yelled at Joseph 
and took a gun and a knife and told Joseph that she was going to kill him for what he had done.   

12 Expert Report at A58, A60, A67-68, A73-74, A83. 
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On May 28, 1993, Margaret Grondin appeared on the local news, announced that a 

molester was stalking Head Start children and that the police were doing nothing about it, and 

provided detailed information about her allegations.13  The lead-in to the May 28 evening 

newscast on Channel 8 was: “Tonight, reports out of Lorain that small children were stuck with 

pins and forced to drink urine.”14  On the air, the news reporter confronted Charles Ellis, a white 

man whom Nikki Zelek had identified as her molester, outside his house.  Later, Nikki Zelek, 

Antuan Powell and Amanda Weinbrenner, identified Mr. Ellis’ house, the house shown on the 

news, as the location of the alleged abuse.  The police later decided not to pursue Mr. Ellis as a 

suspect because he lived with several other men and the interior of his house did not match the 

description of the alleged molester’s house provided by the children.   

The newscast set off a media frenzy in Lorain, with numerous articles in the local 

papers15 and two additional television specials during which “the children talked [on the air] 

‘explicitly’ about the allegations of sexual misconduct.”16  Over the following months, the 

parents of fifteen additional children came forward, alleging that their children had been abused.  

Most of these allegations were transparently false:  ten of these children did not ride Nancy 

                                                 
13 Paul Facinelli, Ember Turns to Wildfire?, THE CHRONICLE TELEGRAM, October 8, 1996 at A152-53.  

14 Facinelli, Wildfire, at A153. 

15 The Lorain Morning Journal, for example, published more than five articles in the two weeks after the 
television report.  E.g., Teresa Hoshell, Parents in Lorain Claim Head Start Kids Molested, LORAIN MORNING 
JOURNAL, May 28, 1993; Head Start Sex Charge Probed, June 3, 1993;  Darlene Brown & Benjamin Gleisser, 
Parents Fret on Sex Case, LORAIN MORNING JOURNAL, at A135-40.  On June 13, the Journal stated in an editorial: 
“We want the authorities to make an arrest as soon as possible . . . .  Whoever is responsible for these awful crimes 
against children must not be allowed to escape justice on a technicality.”  Facinelli, Wildfire, at A153. 

16 Facinelli, Wildfire, at A153. 
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Smith’s afternoon bus route—the route on which the abuse allegedly occurred—and one did not 

even attend Head Start.  There was no physical or medical evidence that any of these fifteen 

children had been abused by Ms. Smith.  During police questioning, some of the fifteen children, 

including those who did not ride Ms. Smith’s afternoon bus, offered details similar to those that 

had been broadcast on television and, according to the police, appeared scared when answering 

questions about “Joseph.”  The parents of some of these children admitted that they had 

questioned their children about the information in the news reports.17  Of these fifteen children, 

two who actually did ride Nancy Smith’s bus—Jonathan Gibson and Jessica Sharpless—were 

later presented at trial as Ms. Smith’s fourth and fifth victims, even though they repeatedly 

denied in police interviews ever having been abused, and even though Jessica was found 

incompetent to testify.  

On June 2, 1993, Nancy Smith voluntarily took a polygraph test.  The results 

demonstrated that Ms. Smith had answered every question honestly and stated truthfully that she 

“did not partake in, or sexually abuse any of the alleged victims.”  Ms. Smith expected that the 

polygraph results would finally resolve the investigation and the then lead Detective agreed that 

the evidence pointed to her innocence.18  The investigation continued, however, and in 

interviews over the next few months, the alleged victims alternated between affirming and 

denying that they had ever been abused. 

                                                 
17 See, e.g., Expert Report at A75, A78, A85; Facinelli, Wildfire, at A153.  In addition, several of the 

children were questioned by reporters.   

18 Affidavit of Detective Tom Cantu, dated August 16, 2011, ¶ 22, at A18. 
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In October 1993, six months after the investigation began, Joseph Allen, an unskilled 

African-American laborer with a prior conviction for sexual battery, came to the attention of 

police in an entirely unrelated investigation.  One of the children—who had briefly been 

considered an alleged victim until it was discovered that he did not ride Nancy Smith’s bus 

during the relevant period—had said that a man named “Alan” or “Al” molested him.  Based on 

Joseph Allen’s name, appearance, and prior conviction, Mr. Allen became a suspect in the Head 

Start investigation. 

The five children who would later be presented as victims at trial were shown a photo 

array that included Joseph Allen, as were five other children who claimed that they had been 

molested.  At first, only one of these ten alleged victims identified Joseph Allen.  Two days later, 

Nikki Zelek identified Mr. Allen but only after discussing the photo array with her mother. 

On November 4, 1993, the police conducted a live lineup, which was videotaped, of five 

men, including Joseph Allen.19  At the trial, the children were able to identify Mr. Allen, and the 

jurors heard testimony suggesting that his identity had never been in doubt.  But, video of the  

lineup demonstrated this was not true.20  Indeed, as already discussed, during the investigation 

                                                 
19 This videotape was never shown to the jury and would have demonstrated the extent of contamination 

and coaching present during this investigation.   

20 One child, William Oliver, repeatedly selected the other participants in the lineup.  At the trial, Emily 
Oliver, William’s mother, when asked about William’s inability to identify Joseph Allen at the live lineup, explained 
that William picked “everybody but [Joseph Allen]” because William was afraid of Mr. Allen:  

William didn’t react. He was going, yeah, maybe, no, yeah, oh, that’s him.  And 
then Joseph stepped forward and William jumped back like this and says, that’s 
not him.  And I was like, are you sure, William?  He started crying.  He got all 
teary and ran out of the room.   

Trial Tr. at 267:22–269:4. 

(continued) . . .  
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the children identified numerous other individuals as the alleged molester.21  When Antuan 

Powell was brought into the lineup room, his father, who was standing right behind him, 

appeared to whisper in Antuan’s ear “number two,”—the position associated with Mr. Allen—

after which Antuan identified Mr. Allen.  (Lineup Video at 1:40–1:45.)  All but one of the other 

seven children identified lineup participants other than Mr. Allen despite the fact that the parents 

directed attention, at times inadvertently, towards Mr. Allen.22  The jury never saw the videotape 

of the lineup or heard testimony regarding the children’s inability to identify Mr. Allen. 

                                                                                                                                                             
However, the lineup video—which was never seen by the jury—conclusively demonstrated that William 

never jumped back, never started crying, and never ran out of the room.  Lineup Video at 37:34–41:10.  To the 
contrary, instead of acting scared or upset, William played with the phone, mimicked the detectives, and enjoyed the 
experience.  Indeed, one of the detectives observed that “he had a good time.”  Id. at 23:28–23:41.  The jury never 
saw the videotape of the lineup or heard testimony regarding the children’s inability to identify Mr. Allen. 

Moreover, news sources have reported that Emily Oliver was taking ten or more illegally obtained 
painkillers a day during the period in which she allegedly witnessed the events in her testimony and, according to 
William Oliver, she continued to abuse painkillers during Nancy Smith’s trial.  Tough Pill to Swallow, THE 
CHRONICLE TELEGRAM, July 12, 1993, at A154-55; Affidavit of William Oliver, dated Sept. 16, 2011, ¶¶ 12–14, at 
A37–38.  These painkillers included codeine-based drugs, which cause mild euphoria, confusion, changes in vision, 
and drowsiness, especially when taken in large doses.  See Codeine — PubMed Health, available at 
http://www ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmedhealth/PMH000056. 

21 To this point, the four- and five-year-old children had provided many different descriptions of the alleged 
male molester and of the location of the abuse.  The alleged victims and their parents had also accused numerous 
people of molestation, including other bus drivers and several individuals with no connection to Head Start.  For 
example, three of the alleged victims specifically identified Charles Ellis, a white man with no connection to Head 
Start, as the molester or his house as the location of the abuse.  Expert Report at A59, A66.  In late June, the 
investigation temporarily focused on another suspect, Richard Jones, because Antuan Powell identified Mr. Jones in 
a photo lineup, provided a description of his molester that “perfectly” matched Mr. Jones, and identified Mr. Jones’ 
house as the location of his abuse.  Antuan later admitted that his father, Frederick Powell, had pressured him into 
selecting Mr. Jones.  Nikki Zelek also identified Mr. Jones as her molester and Amanda Weinbrenner and Jessica 
Sharpless identified Mr. Jones’ house as the location of the alleged abuse.  See the Lorain County Police Reports. 

22 Margaret Grondin also coached her child, Nikki, at the lineup by requesting that Joseph Allen step 
forward and by pushing Nikki towards selecting Joseph Allen, who was wearing a green shirt.  Lineup Video at 
10:40–11:10 (“Q: What color shirt is he wearing?  Nikki Zelek: Blue.  Margaret Grondin: That’s green.  Nikki: 
Green.”).  Similarly, Emily Oliver appeared to be trying to coach her son, William Oliver, by pinching his right leg 
when Joseph Allen stepped forward.  Lineup Video at 39:40–39:50; see also id. at 8:05–11:08, 13:45–16:14, 42:00–
45:00.  
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Over the course of the investigation, the detectives, not surprisingly, were confused and 

frustrated by the children’s continually shifting stories and inability to identify Joseph Allen.  

But, failing to recognize the manner in which the publicity and contamination had impacted the 

children, the detectives attributed the children’s denials and inability to identify Joseph Allen to 

fear.  As a result, the police tried to coax answers from the children by using what experts have 

since noted were “leading, often repetitive, and specifically focused questions.”23  When a child 

gave an answer that did not fit the narrative supplied by the parents, the police gently corrected 

the child and pushed for the desired answer.24  At the time, with only very limited training and 

experience in dealing with child victims, the detectives likely did not anticipate the effects that 

these suggestive techniques could have on impressionable, young minds.25  Similarly, although 

the police acknowledged that there were concerns about the children being contaminated, they 

underestimated the impact of questioning parents in front of their children, allowing parents to 

question other children, and permitting the alleged victims to attend weekly group therapy 

sessions.26  When viewed in light of subsequent developments in the field of child psychology, 

                                                 
23 Expert Report at A56.  See also id. at A53–58, A60–61, A64, A67–72, A74, A76–77, A80, A85–88, 

A92. 

24 Expert Report at A54, A57, A61, A64, A68, A74, A85.   

25 Trial Tr. 951:4–14, 1023:18–20.  Research studies in child psychology have repeatedly demonstrated that 
children are significantly more likely to give false answers when an adult authority figure leads them to believe that 
their initial response was incorrect.  Sena Garven, Allegations of Wrongdoing: The Effects of Reinforcement on 
Children’s Mundane and Fantastic Claims, 85 J. APPLIED PSYCHOL. 38, 41–43 (2000) (demonstrating that children 
were more than ten times likelier to agree to a fantastic false suggestion when pushed to correct their initial 
responses); Stephen J. Ceci & Maggie Bruck, JEOPARDY IN THE COURTROOM, 259 (Bruce Dennis Sales ed., 1995). 

26 Expert Report at A57-58, A61, A64, A67, A80, A83–85, A92.  Studies have shown that children are 
extremely susceptible to suggestions “made by parents, other adults, or other children prior to the first formal 
investigative interview or between repeated forensic or clinical interviews.”  Amy R. Warren & Dorothy F. Marsil, 
Why Children’s Suggestibility Remains a Serious Concern, 65 LAW & CONTEMP. PROBS. No. 1, 144–145 (2002); 

(continued) . . .  
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however, there can be no doubt that the interview techniques caused the children’s stories to 

converge dramatically over the course of the investigation.27  Indeed, according to Dr. Kathleen 

M. Quinn, a Professor of Psychiatry and a certified expert in adult and child forensic 

psychiatry,28 the “[p]rofessional interviewing [in this case] was characterized by the pursuit by 

adults to confirm their assumptions, challenging and disbelief of data not consistent with these 

assumptions . . . .”29   

 

 

 

                                                                                                                                                             
Debra A. Poole & D. Stephen Lindsay, Assessing the Accuracy of Young Children’s Reports: Lessons from the 
Investigation of Child Sexual Abuse, 7 APPLIED & PREVENTIVE PSYCHOL. 1, 4 (1998) (citing a study finding that 
mild and unintentional suggestion from a parent can substantially affect children). 

27 See generally Expert Report at A64, A89; Anderson, Assessing the Reliability of Child Testimony in 
Sexual Abuse Cases, supra note 9, 69 S. CAL. L. REV. at 2141; Stephen J. Ceci & Maggie Bruck, Children’s 
Suggestibility: Characteristics & Mechanisms, 34 ADVANCES IN CHILD DEV. & BEHAV., 62 (2006). 

28 Dr. Quinn has been the Director of Training in Child and Adolescent Psychiatry at the Cleveland Clinic 
in Cleveland Ohio for twelve years.  She graduated with honors from Harvard Medical School and was honored as 
one of the “Best Doctors in America” in 2007-2008.  She has authored several articles and chapters of medical 
textbooks on forensic interviewing of children including:  Interviewing Children for Suspected Sexual Abuse, 
PRINCIPLES AND PRACTICE OF CHILD AND ADOLESCENT FORENSIC MENTAL HEALTH (American Psychiatric 
Publishing Inc., 2010); Influences of an Interviewer’s Behaviors in Child Sex Abuse Investigations, BULL AM. ACAD. 
PSYCHIATRY LAW (1989); Investigatory Independence in Child Sex Abuse Evaluations: Conceptual Considerations, 
BULL AM. ACAD. PSYCHIATRY LAW (1988); The Credibility of Children’s Allegations of Sexual Abuse, 6 BEHAVIOR 
SCIENCES & THE LAW (1988); Competency to be a Witness: a Major Child Forensic Issue, BULL AM. ACAD. 
PSYCHIATRY LAW (1986).   

29 Expert Report at A74.  Child psychology experts generally agree that “children can be led by a persistent 
interrogator to change their descriptions of what they have seen or what has been done if the event is somewhat 
ambiguous to start.”  Gail S. Goodman & Alison Clarke-Stewart, Suggestibility in Children’s Testimony: 
Implications for Sexual Abuse Investigations, THE SUGGESTIBILITY OF CHILDREN’S RECOLLECTIONS: IMPLICATIONS 
FOR EYEWITNESS TESTIMONY 92, 102–03 (1991); Stephen J. Ceci & Maggie Bruck, Child Witnesses: Translating 
Research into Policy, 7 SOCIAL POLICY REPORT 3, 13 (Fall 1993); Stephen J. Ceci, Children’s Allegations of Sexual 
Abuse: Forensic and Scientific Issues, 1 PSYCHOL. PUB. POL’Y & L. 494, 506 (1995) (“No one familiar with the 
scientific research ought to doubt that some children could be brought to make false claims of sexual abuse if 
powerful adults pursue them repeatedly with [suggestive] enjoinders.”)  
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IV. Nancy Smith’s Trial 

A. The Alleged Victims’ Testimony 

At Nancy Smith’s trial, the state presented the testimony of four alleged victims, three of 

whom, Jonathan Gibson, Antuan Powell, and Nikki Zelek, responded affirmatively to questions 

about the alleged crimes.  But beyond confirming statements which previously had been reported 

in the press and suggested to them during questioning, the children’s testimony was inconsistent 

and, in some instances, simply incredible.   

For example, Nikki Zelek testified that: 

• Bus aides Susan Coates & Elizabeth “Angel” Powell30 and Nancy Smith’s son 
and daughter were present at Joseph Allen’s house during the abuse, although 
police had never charged that Ms. Coates, Ms. Smith’s children or anyone else 
was involved in the alleged abuse and although they had concluded that Joseph 
Allen’s apartment was not a site of alleged abuse.  (Trial Tr. at 795:24–797:23, 
961:3–10 (admitting that the police never identified any house as the location of 
the alleged abuse.)   

• Other children from Head Start played unsupervised on the lawn outside of 
Joseph Allen’s house while the abuse allegedly occurred.  (Id. at 800:22–801:11.) 

• Antuan Powell, Amanda Weinbrenner, and Jonathan Gibson were the only Head 
Start classmates she could name (id. at 779:13–20), even though Jonathan was 
actually in a different class.  

• The home of Charles Ellis—the white man originally accused of being the alleged 
molester—was Joseph Allen’s house.  (Id. at 821:10–14.) 

 
Jonathan Gibson—who had previously told the police that he had never been abused—

gave equally confused testimony.  He testified that: 

• Instead of getting off the bus at Head Start, he, Nikki Zelek, Antuan Powell, 
Nancy Smith, Angel Powell and another bus aide, would stay on the bus and go to 
Joseph Allen’s house; then, later in the day, Ms. Smith and Ms. Powell would 

                                                 
30 Elizabeth Angel Powell was a Head Start employee, unrelated to Frederick and Antuan Powell. 
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return the children to their Head Start class without anyone noticing.  (Id. at 
517:7–522:20.)   

• Joseph Allen, who it was uncontested did not work for the Head Start school bus 
operator, was the bus aide for the bus on which Jonathan rode.  (Id. at 524:22–
525:25.) 

• Joseph Allen had shot Jonathan in the mouth with a “gun.”  (Id. at 504:25–
505:22.)    

• He could not remember the name of any child in his class besides the other 
alleged victims, Nikki Zelek and Antuan Powell.  (Id. at 513:3–11.)   

• He had been to Joseph Allen’s attorney’s house, where he had played with the 
truck found by the police at Mr. Allen’s house.  (Id. at 529:14–530:4.) 

• Elizabeth “Angel” Powell, a bus aide, rather than Nancy Smith or Joseph Allen, 
was the person that “did . . . bad things” to him.  (Id. at 532:19–21.)   

• He was telling the truth when he told the police that “nobody touched [his] private 
parts.”  (Id. at 528:11–18.) 

 
Antuan Powell testified that: 

• He was taken by Nancy Smith in her car to Joseph Allen’s house, and that, after 
being molested, Ms. Smith would return him to school, take other Head Start 
children out of their classes, and bring them to Mr. Allen’s house.  (Id. at 623:9–
624:17.) 

• On one occasion, it was so late that Nancy Smith took him directly home in her 
car.  (Id. at 646:9–647:19.) 

• Joseph Allen tied him to a tree in Mr. Allen’s front yard and made him drink 
urine.  (Id. at 593:8–21, 615:22–617:18, 644:1–5.)31 

 
Amanda Weinbrenner testified that: 

• Nancy Smith and Joseph Allen never touched her and that she never saw them 
touch any of the other children.  (Id. at 836:3–4, 837:18–838:11, 862:6–18.) 

                                                 
31 Joseph Allen lived on a main thoroughfare in Lorain in a housing complex that had very few trees and 

each house and surrounding yard was completely visible from the street.  Trial Tr. 972:5–25.  Not surprisingly, no 
person was ever found to have witnessed the events described by Antuan. 
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• Nobody touched her, nothing bad happened to her, she had never seen Mr. Allen 
before, and she had never been to Mr. Allen’s or Ms. Smith’s house.  (Id. at 
860:2–22, 862:14–18, 876:20–877:17, 879:22–880:5, 887:17–888:15.) 

 
The jury never saw the lineup video, the early police reports, or the videotapes of the 

children’s interviews with the police, and, as a result, the jurors had no basis for understanding 

the source of the children’s emotionally charged but inconsistent and often illogical testimony.  

Indeed, because defense counsel failed to obtain and present at trial evidence of the 

inconsistencies with respect to any individual child and between and among the children during 

the investigation,32 the jury was left to assume that the children had told consistent stories 

throughout the entire investigation and likely attributed the inconsistencies at trial to the fear 

associated with testifying.  Moreover, because the jury never saw the lineup video or the 

videotapes of the police interviews with the children, the jury was unaware of the leading and 

suggestive questioning by the police.  Thus, defense counsel never gave the jury a persuasive 

alternative explanation for why these children were making such disturbing accusations. 

                                                 
32 Among other failings, defense counsel failed to obtain Detective Cantu’s police reports.  Those reports 

demonstrated numerous inconsistencies among the alleged victims’ statements during the first month of the 
investigation.  For example, those reports show that on May 25, 1993, Detective Cantu interviewed eleven children 
who rode Nancy Smith’s bus during the period of the alleged abuse—including two of the alleged victims, Antuan 
Powell and Amanda Weinbrenner.  All the children stated that Ms. Smith had never “touched them in a bad way” 
and that they had never visited Ms. Smith’s home.       

The reports also indicate that (1) Jessica Sharpless never clearly stated that she had been abused; (2) when 
Detective Cantu asked Antuan “if the information he gave was the truth, or if someone told him to say these things,  
Antuan stated that he was told to say this story, but then changed his story again” and said it was the truth; (3) at one 
point, Jonathan Gibson told Detective Cantu that Nancy Smith never touched him, and that neither Ms. Smith, nor 
anyone else, ever “put anything up his butt.”   

Detective Cantu’s police reports also document the fact that ten children who did not ride Nancy Smith’s 
afternoon bus claimed that they had been abused after a television special on the case aired.  After the television 
special aired, Nikki Zelek, Antuan Powell, and Amanda Weinbrenner identified the house shown on television—Mr. 
Ellis’ house—as the house where the alleged abuse supposedly occurred and Nikki Zelek identified Mr. Ellis as her 
molester.   
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Effective defense counsel would have presented this evidence in conjunction with 

testimony from a child psychology expert to explain to the jury:  (1) the significance of the 

alleged victims’ initial denials and inconsistencies, at the time when their memories were most 

accurate;33 (2) how the fact that at least ten children who did not even ride Nancy Smith’s 

afternoon bus, but nevertheless claimed to have been molested, was indicative of contamination; 

and (3) how studies have shown that months of suggestive questioning by adults can influence a 

child’s recollection of events.34  Most importantly, a child psychology expert could have 

explained to the jury how adult coaching and questioning can influence a child’s memory and 

how the inconsistencies presented in the alleged victims’ testimony were indicative of 

contamination.  Indeed, within the child-psychology research community, “there is an 

overwhelming consensus that children are suggestible” and that this susceptibility to leading 

questions increases when (1) children are being questioned by authority figures, (2) the 

questioning is reinforced by their parents, (3) the children hear negative remarks about the 

alleged accuser, and (4) initial denials are corrected by the interviewers as wrong answers.35   

                                                 
33 See Anderson, Reliability of Child Testimony, supra note 9, 69 S. Cal. L. Rev. at 2144–45 (explaining 

that a child “witness is most likely to give an accurate and detailed report during the first interview, and that after 
several interviews there is a greater likelihood that a child’s memory of actual events is distorted by ‘events’ 
suggested by the interviewer”) (Gail S. Goodman & Vicki Helgeson, Child Sexual Assault: Children's Memory and 
the Law, 40 U. MIAMI L. REV. 181, 195 (1985)); John R. Spencer & Rhona H. Flin, THE EVIDENCE OF CHILDREN: 
THE LAW AND PSYCHOLOGY, 307 (2d ed. 1993). 

34 Jennifer K. Ackil & Maria S. Zaragoza, Memorial Consequences of Forced Confabulation: Age 
Differences in Susceptibility to False Memories, 34 DEVELOPMENTAL PSYCHOL. 1358, 1369 (1998) (finding that 
convincing children to provide false accounts can lead them to recall the false accounts as true); Stephen J. Ceci & 
Maggie Bruck, Children’s Suggestibility: Characteristics & Mechanisms, 34 ADVANCES IN CHILD DEV. & BEHAV., 
62 (2006) (“At times, suggestive interviewing techniques result in false beliefs.  Children who incorporate the 
suggestions of their interviewers come to truly believe that they were victims.”). 

35 Ceci, The Suggestibility of Children, supra note 29, 86 CORNELL L. REV. at 36; Carole Peterson & 
Michael Bell, Children’s Memory for Traumatic Injury, 67 Child Dev. 3045, 3059 (1996); John Myers, Hearsay 

(continued) . . .  
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Every expert that has examined the children’s interviews has concluded that all of these 

potentially exacerbating circumstances were present here.  The questioning was “repetitive, 

suggestive and focused on the pursuit of only one [story,]” significantly increasing the likelihood 

of false accusations.36  These experts have also indicated that the media reports and family-to-

family spreading of information further magnified this risk.37  As Dr. Quinn explained in her 

report, the combination of these improper techniques—“leading and overly specific questions,” a 

“failure to separate fantasy from reality accounts,” and a “failure to explore alternative 

hypotheses”—had a significant “negative impact on the reliability of the investigation.”38  But 

defense counsel failed to call such an expert as a witness.  Indeed, with no explanation given for 

                                                                                                                                                             
Exceptions: Adjusting the Ratio of Intuition to Psychological Science, 65 LAW & CONTEMP. PROBS., No. 1, 3, 30 
(2002) (“Children are sometimes more suggestible when questioned by an authority figure.”); Garven, supra note 
25, 85 J. APPLIED PSYCHOL. at 41–43; Ceci, Jeopardy in the Courtroom, supra note 25, at 131. 

36 Expert Report at A55; see Paul Facinelli, Monsters or Victims, THE CHRONICLE TELEGRAM, October 6, 
1996, A148-49 (Professor Melvin Guyer concluded that “[i]n each and every interview there are clear examples of 
coercive techniques.  There is a high incidence of suggestibility and inappropriate questioning.”); see generally 
Peterson, supra note 35, 67 CHILD DEV. at 3059 (finding that children made roughly five times as many errors in 
response to directed questions as compared to open-ended ones); Karen J. Saywitz, Children’s Memories of a 
Physical Examination Involving Genital Touch: Implications for Reports of Child Sexual Abuse, 59 J. CONSULTING 
& CLINICAL PSYCHOL. 682, 687 (1991). 

37 See Gabrielle F. Principe et al., Believing Is Seeing: How Rumors Can Engender False Memories in 
Preschoolers, 17 PSYCHOL. SCI. 243, 243 (2006) (demonstrating that false accusations can easily spread when 
children hear about an event from other children); Myers, supra note 35, 65 LAW & CONTEMP. PROBS. at 30. 

 38 Expert Report at A64.  During the investigation, the police’s own child abuse expert, Dr. Richardson, 
became so concerned about contamination that she held a special meeting with the detectives and social workers on 
the case.  During that meeting, she expressed concern that, as a result of the media exposure, the “families of other 
potential or alleged victims would, before any disclosure ha[d] been made by their child, have in their mind the 
details of what the allegations from Nikki were.”  (Deposition of Dr. Amy Richardson, dated July 1, 1998.)  The jury 
never heard testimony from Dr. Richardson. 
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the children’s testimony, the jury “set aside some of their misgivings” regarding the case because 

“kids just don’t make up stuff like that.”39   

B. Exculpatory Evidence Not Presented at Trial 

Nancy Smith’s defense counsel failed to present available exculpatory evidence 

including: 

• Key alibi testimony from Sherry Hagerman, the bus aide on the afternoon of May 
7, 1993, the only identified date of the alleged abuse, that nothing improper 
occurred that day and that all the children on Ms. Smith’s bus were dropped off at 
school and arrived home on time.40 
 

• Alibi testimony from Ms. Smith’s bus aides and parent volunteers—none of 
whom were called at trial—that Ms. Smith always had an aide or parent with her41 
and the children and Ms. Smith always dropped the alleged victims off at school 
and never did anything improper.42  

 

                                                 
39 Facinelli, Monsters or Victims, A148-49 (quoting Juror Tammy Quillen).   

40 Affidavit of Sherry Hagerman (“Hagerman Aff”), dated August 18, 2011, ¶¶ 15–17, at A20-23; Absence 
Analysis for Sherry Hagerman for May 1993, at A125 (showing that Sherry Hagerman was not absent in May); 
Time Sheets for Sherry Hagerman, A128-30. 

41 An “absence analysis” put together contemporaneously by the Lorain County Community Action 
Agency demonstrates that one of Nancy Smith’s bus aides—Eduardo Soto, Susan Coates, Angel Powell, or Sherry 
Hagerman—was present on Nancy Smith’s bus on all but two days during the entire five-month period during which 
the molestation allegedly occurred.  Compare Absence Analysis Support Data at A100–A127, with Affidavit of 
Susan Coates (“Coates Aff.”), dated June 25, 2011, ¶ 2, at A24, and Affidavit of Eduardo Soto (“Soto Aff”), dated 
Sept. 10, 2011, ¶ 3, at A39, and Hagerman Aff. ¶¶ 13–15, A21, and Trial Tr. 375:8–376:9.  In addition to the bus 
aides, several parent volunteers, including Audrey Taylor and Kymberly Spangler, rode Ms. Smith’s bus during this 
period.  Affidavit of William T. Locke, dated January 14, 1998 (“Locke Aff.”) ¶ 10, at A45; Affidavit of Audrey 
Taylor Payne, dated June 5, 2011, at ¶ 2, A33; Affidavit of Kymberley Spangler (“Spangler Aff”), dated November 
28, 2005, at ¶ 2, A26.  Moreover, under Ohio law, a second adult had to be on the bus with the children at all times 
and, accordingly, there was a list of substitute bus aides and parent volunteers whom the manager of transportation 
for Head Start, Glen Thaler, was required to contact if the bus aide was absent.  Ohio Administrative Code § 5101:2-
12-48; Locke Aff. ¶ 8, A44-45.  On days when a substitute aide or parent volunteer was unavailable to ride the bus, 
an office worker or the Transportation Supervisor would ride the bus. (Deposition of Glen Thaler, dated Dec. 16, 
1997.) 

42 See Hagerman Aff. ¶¶ 6–12, 17, at A20–22; Coates Aff. ¶¶ 2–10, at A24–A25; Spangler Aff. ¶¶ 1–2, 
A26; Soto Aff. ¶¶ 6, 8, 9, 16, at A39–40. 
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• Head Start attendance records showing that Nikki Zelek was in school on May 7, 
1993, and that the alleged victims were never absent on the same day.43 
 

• Time cards showing that Ms. Smith worked two other jobs on the afternoon of 
May 7, 1993, and could not have abused the children.44 

 
• A videotape of the live lineup showing the children’s repeated inability to identify 

Ms. Smith’s co-defendant Mr. Allen and demonstrating that portions of Emily 
Oliver’s testimony was false.   

 
Conclusion 

We respectfully urge you to pardon, or alternatively commute the sentence of, Nancy 

Smith, a woman who has served almost fifteen years in prison for a crime that very likely never 

occurred.  Given the advancements in child psychology and investigatory procedures for cases 

involving children, the deficiencies of Nancy Smith’s trial and appellate counsel, and the view of 

so many that the fifteen years she has already spent in prison has been a tragedy for herself and 

her family, Ms. Smith’s case deserves a fresh look.  Ms. Smith has demonstrated over the last 

three years that she can be and will continue to be a productive and valuable member of her 

community.  She seeks your intervention so that she need not endure the further tragedy of being 

torn away from her family again and returned to prison.  Accordingly, we respectfully request 

that you pardon or commute the sentence of Nancy Smith and afford a woman who has already 

served almost fifteen years in prison some measure of justice.   

                                                 
43 Head Start Attendance Records at A93-99. 

44 See Trial Tr. 1178:11–1184:8; Affidavit of Mary Molnar, dated Aug. 31, 2011, at ¶¶ 4–11, A27–28. 
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